IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

SUPREME COURT NO. 21-0158

ANTOINE TYREE WILLIAMS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR FLOYD COUNTY HONORABLE RUSTIN DAVENPORT, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY State Appellate Defender

MELINDA J. NYE Assistant Appellate Defender mnye@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the district court erred in denying Williams' motion for a new trial: were his Sixth Amendment rights were violated by the systematic exclusion of African American jurors in his jury pool?

Authorities

State v. Williams, 929 N.W.2d 621, 629-30 ns. 1, 2 (Iowa 2019)

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002)

Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 526, 527 (1975)

Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 149 (1968)

Castaneda v. Partida, 430 U.S. 482, 494 (1977)

Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357, 364 (1979)

Berghuis v. Smith, 559 U.S. 314, 319 (2010)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801, 821 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d 293, 304 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Veal, 930 N.W.2d 319, 328 (Iowa 2019)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issue raised involves a substantial issue of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). Specifically, this case asks the court to resolve the question of how and when to aggregate prior jury pools and whether "run-of-the-mill" jury management practices may prove systematic exclusion when accompanied by proof of unfair and chronic underrepresentation in a Sixth Amendment fair cross-section claim.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Antoine Williams appeals from the district court's ruling on remand that he was not entitled to a new trial on his fair cross-section claim under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Williams was originally convicted of murder in the second degree after a jury trial in the Floyd County District Court.

Course of Proceedings: The State charged Antoine Williams with first degree murder in 2017. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-5). A jury convicted Williams of second degree murder, and the court sentenced him to a fifty-year indeterminate prison sentence. (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 35-38). Williams appealed, and the Iowa Supreme Court affirmed his convictions, but remanded his case for a hearing on whether his jury was drawn from a fair cross-section of the community in violation of the Sixth Amendment. State v. Williams, 929 N.W.2d 621, 629-30 (Iowa 2019). Procedendo issued July 16, 2019. (Procedendo) (App. pp. 39-41).

Hearing on the motion for new trial was held on August 5, 2020. (Hearing Tr. p. 1). The district court denied Williams motion for new trial on January 29, 2021. (Order Following Remand) (App. pp. 83-117). The district court concluded that African-Americans are a distinctive group in the community, but that Williams had not satisfied the second and third prongs of the <u>Duren/Plain</u> test—that African-Americans were

underrepresented in his jury pool or that any underrepresentation was due to systematic exclusion. (Order Following Remand pp. 5-34) (App. pp. 87-116).

Williams filed a timely notice of appeal. (Amended Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 176).

Facts: Antoine Williams was charged and tried for first degree murder for shooting Nate Fleming in Floyd County, Iowa. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-5). His trial took place in October 2017. (Order for PSI) (App.pp. 33-34). Although Floyd County "is approximately 2.3% African-American in population. . . . The jury pool of unexcused jurors, however, contained only one African-American. The district court overruled the defendant's motion to strike the jury panel." State v. Williams, 929 N.W.2d 621, 623 (Iowa 2019). Additional facts will be discussed below as necessary.

ARGUMENT

The district court erred in denying Williams' motion for a new trial: his Sixth Amendment rights were violated by the systematic exclusion of African American jurors in his jury pool.

A. Error Preservation. In the original trial, Williams challenged his jury panel, alleging African-Americans were underrepresented in his jury pool in violation of the Sixth Amendment. (Motion to Challenge Jury Panel) (App. pp. 6-8). After a hearing, the district court denied the motion. (Order re: Jury Pool Challenge) (App. pp. 27-32). In the original appeal, the Iowa Supreme Court concluded Williams had not preserved a fair-cross-section claim under Article I Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution and remanded his case for further consideration of his claim under the Sixth Amendment. State v. Williams, 929 N.W.2d 621, 629-30 ns. 1, 2 (Iowa 2019).

On remand, Williams argued that both African-Americans and Hispanics were underrepresented in his jury pool. However, the district court concluded the issue of systematic exclusion of Hispanics had not been preserved, having not been

raised in the original filings or on appeal, and declined to consider it. (Motion to Challenge Jury Panel, Order re: Jury Pool Challenge; Order Following Remand, p. 3) (App. pp. 6-8, 27-32, 85); Williams, 929 N.W.2d at 629-30. Williams also urged that, despite the Iowa Supreme Court's holding to the contrary, a state constitutional claim had been presented at (Professional Statement p. 1) (App. p. 67). However, the trial. district court disagreed and followed the remand order. (Order Following Remand p. 3) (App. p. 85). In this appeal, Williams neither claim claim concedes of state nor underrepresentation of Hispanics was preserved in the initial proceedings.

The district court addressed and denied Williams' claim of underrepresentation and systematic exclusion of African-Americans in violation of his rights under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. (Order Following Remand, p. 3, 34) (App. pp. 85, 116). Error was preserved. Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002).

- **B.** Standard of Review. Constitutional questions are reviewed de novo. Williams, 929 N.W.2d at 628.
- **Merits.** Williams' Sixth Amendment right to a jury pool comprised of a fair cross-section of the community was violated because ineffective jury management practices led to the unfair and unreasonable underrepresentation of African-Americans in his jury pool. Williams urges the court to reconsider its conclusion that a successful Sixth Amendment claim must be supported by a statistical analysis demonstrating the distinct group was underrepresented by two standard deviations. Because this standard is not dictated by United States Supreme Court precedent, the court should heed the expert testimony provided in this case and conclude Williams' claim succeeds because the expert's meta-analysis of the eight jury pools summoned during the year preceding and including Williams' trial demonstrated there was only a .38 percent chance the representation of African-Americans in Williams' jury pool was the result of a truly random selection process.

1. <u>United States Supreme Court Precedent</u>. "[T]he American concept of the jury trial contemplates a jury drawn from a fair cross section of the community." <u>Taylor v. Louisiana</u>, 419 U.S. 522, 526, 527 (1975). Accordingly, "the selection of a petit jury from a representative cross section of the community is an essential component of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial." <u>Id.</u> at 528. An impartial jury guards against abuse of power and supports public confidence in the fairness of criminal proceedings. <u>Id.</u> at 530.1

While <u>Taylor</u> acknowledged the systematic exclusion of women from juries violated the fair cross-section requirement, it recognized that the "fair-cross-section principle must have much leeway in application." <u>Id.</u> at 537-38. States were still permitted to adopt relevant qualifications and provide hardship exemptions "so long as it may be fairly said that the jury lists or panels are representative of the community." Id. at 538.

¹ The Sixth Amendment fundamental right to a jury trial in criminal proceedings applies to the States through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. <u>Duncan v. Louisiana</u>, 391 U.S. 145, 149 (1968).

Soon after, the U.S. Supreme Court clarified the analysis on Castaneda v. Partida, 430 U.S. 482 (1977). In a habeas action, Partida alleged he was denied due process and equal protection because of gross under-representation of Mexican-Americans on grand juries. Id. at 491. The Court identified three steps for establishing a prima facie claim of an equal protection violation: 1) the excluded group is a recognized and distinct class singled out for different treatment; ² underrepresentation must be proved by "comparing the proportion of the group in the total population to the proportion called to serve as grand jurors, over a significant period of time"; and 3) the selection procedure used is subject to abuse or not racially neutral. Id. at 494-95.

^{2.} For purposes of the Equal Protection analysis, the Court said, the defendant must show the race or identifiable group of which he is a member was singled out for different treatment. Castaneda v. Partida, 430 U.S. 482, 494 (1977). For a Sixth Amendment fair cross-section claim, there is no requirement that the defendant be a member of the excluded group. Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 526 (1975).

The <u>Castaneda</u> Court found Mexican-Americans were a distinctive class and that there was a 40-percentage point differential between their numbers in the population and their numbers among those called for grand jury service over an 11-year period.³ <u>Id.</u> at 495-96. Finally, the Court found the Texas system of selecting grand jurors to be highly subjective, with Spanish surnames being readily identifiable. <u>Id.</u> at 497. Because the State failed to rebut the presumption of purposeful discrimination, the Court found a denial of equal protection. <u>Id.</u> at 501.

In <u>Duren v. Missouri</u>, the Court created the three-part test that has been used to assess fair cross-section claims under the Sixth Amendment. <u>Duren v. Missouri</u>, 439 U.S. 357 (1979). In <u>Duren</u>, Missouri law automatically granted exemptions from

³ In a footnote, the Court also noted that the standard deviation from the expected norm was 12. <u>Castaneda v. Partida</u>, 430 U.S. 482, 496 (1977). The Court indicated that "As a general rule for such large samples, if the difference between the expected value and the observed number is greater than two or three standard deviations, then the hypothesis that the jury drawing was random would be suspect to a social scientist." Id. n.17.

jury service for women who requested them. <u>Id.</u> at 359-60. The Court found the resulting composition of jury venires with less than 15 percent women violated the Sixth Amendment. <u>Id.</u> at 360.

In assessing whether the practice violated the Constitution, the Court first considered whether women were a distinctive group. <u>Id.</u> at 364. Based on the Court's ruling in <u>Taylor</u>, it was clear they were. <u>Id.</u>

Next, the Court considered whether "the representation of this group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to the number of such persons in the community." Id. It compared the percentage of the unrepresented group in the community with the percentage of the group in the jury venire. Id. at 364-66. The Court looked at the differential between women making up 53 percent of the population but only 15 percent of jury venires and determined "Such a gross discrepancy between the percentage of women in jury venires and the percentage of women in the community

requires the conclusion that women were not fairly represented in the source from which petit juries were drawn in Jackson County." Id. at 365-366.

Finally, the Court considered whether Duren had established that the underrepresentation of women was due to systematic exclusion. Id. at 366. Notably, the Court found "undisputed demonstration that that Duren's discrepancy occurred not just occasionally but in every weekly venire for a period of nearly a year manifestly indicates that the cause of the underrepresentation was systematic—that is, inherent in the particular jury-selection process utilized." Id. The Court also remarked that Duren had established where in the process the exclusion occurred - after women were summoned and were either allowed to request an exemption or presumed to have requested an exemption. Id. at 366-67. The Court held that the exclusion of women was "quite obviously" due to the system in which juries were selected, and held that Duren had established a prima facie claim of a fair cross-section violation. <u>Id.</u> at 367.

Once a defendant makes a prima facie showing of a constitutional violation, "it is the State that bears the burden of justifying this infringement by showing attainment of a fair cross section to be incompatible with a significant state interest." Id. at 368. The Court found the State failed to provide adequate justification for automatically exempting all women based on "preclusive domestic responsibilities of some women." Id. at 369. Accordingly, Duren had established a prima facie violation of the Sixth Amendment and the Court remanded for further proceedings. Id.

Finally, in <u>Berghuis v. Smith</u>, the U.S. Supreme Court considered a habeas case in which Smith, who was African-American, alleged a violation of the Sixth Amendment after being convicted by an all-white jury. <u>Berghuis v. Smith</u>, 559 U.S. 314, 319 (2010). African-Americans constituted 7.28

percent of the eligible juror population in the county but only 6 percent of the pool from which Smith's jurors were drawn. <u>Id.</u>

The Michigan Supreme Court considered all three means underrepresentation—absolute of calculating disparity, disparity, comparative and standard deviation—before concluding Smith had failed to establish a legally sufficient disparity. Id. at 324. Giving Smith the benefit of the doubt, however, the Michigan Supreme Court determined Smith had not shown systematic exclusion, either through socioeconomic factors or due to "siphoning" of jurors to district courts from Id. at 325. The Sixth Circuit granted relief circuit courts. based upon the state court's unreasonable application of clearly established law, using the comparative disparity test to find underrepresentation, and finding the juror assignment order in Smith's case caused the exclusion. Id. at 326.

The U.S. Supreme Court reversed, finding none of its decisions "clearly established" Smith's claim for relief. <u>Id.</u> at 327. First, the Court noted that "neither Duren nor any other

decision of this Court specifies the method or test courts must use to measure the representation of distinctive groups in jury pools." Id. at 329. The Berghuis Court did not take any stance on which of the three methods would be an appropriate measure of underrepresentation, recognizing that the Michigan Supreme Court assumed for the sake of argument such underrepresentation existed. Id. at 329-30.

When considering the systematic exclusion prong, the <u>Berghuis</u> Court faulted Smith for not providing evidence regarding the percentages of African-Americans on district venires versus circuit venires in support of his siphoning argument. <u>Id.</u> at 331. The only statistical evidence Smith did provide, meanwhile, did not show a "significant" impact on representation when the questionable assignment practice was changed. <u>Id.</u> Although Smith pointed to a variety of factors that might lead to underrepresentation, the Court noted its precedent had not "clearly established" a prima facie claim of

systematic exclusion could be proven through such factors.⁴

<u>Id.</u> at 332-33. Because the Michigan Supreme Court decision did not involve an unreasonable application of federal law, the Sixth Circuit erred in reversing it. <u>Id.</u> at 333.

2. <u>Iowa Supreme Court precedent</u>. The Iowa Supreme Court has recently decided a number of cases in an attempt to clarify the standards for fair-cross section claims under both the Sixth Amendment and Article I Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution. The trend started with <u>State v. Plain</u>, which involved only a Sixth Amendment claim. <u>State v. Plain</u>, 898 N.W.2d 801, 821 (Iowa 2017).

Plain's jury pool contained one African-American out of 56 potential petit jurors. <u>Id.</u> And while African-Americans comprised 8.9 percent of the county population, they comprised just 1.8 percent of the jury pool summoned for Plain's trial. <u>Id.</u>

⁴ In a footnote, the Court also held it had "never 'clearly' decided, and have no need to consider here, whether the impact of social and economic factors can support a fair-cross-section claim." Berghuis v. Smith, 559 U.S. 314, 333 n.6 (2010).

The <u>Plain</u> Court applied the <u>Duren</u> three-prong test and found African-Americans to be a distinctive group. <u>Id.</u> at 822. With respect to calculating underrepresentation, the Court acknowledged it had previously adopted the absolute disparity test but acknowledged flaws with all three measures in use. <u>Id.</u> at 823-26. Ultimately the Court permitted district courts to use multiple analytical models in their analyses. <u>Id.</u> at 826-27. This approach was more consistent with the notion that communities can change over time and courts need the flexibility to address such changes. <u>Id.</u> at 827.

As to the systematic exclusion prong, the Court expressed concern that the jury manager had denied Plain access to historical data on the composition of juries in the county. <u>Id.</u> at 827-28. The Court found Plain's lack of access to the records undermined his ability to establish the third <u>Duren</u> prong. <u>Id.</u> at 828. The Court conditionally affirmed Plain's conviction and remanded his case to the District Court for development of additional record. Id. at 829.

The Court re-examined the Sixth Amendment analysis of <u>Plain</u> in <u>State v. Lilly</u>, and also took the opportunity to address the applicable analysis under Article I Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution. <u>State v. Lilly</u>, 930 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 2019). The opinion deviated from both <u>Plain</u> and <u>Duren</u> in several respects.

First, the Iowa Supreme Court decided upon standard deviation as the appropriate statistical measurement for underrepresentation under both the state and federal constitutions. <u>Id.</u> at 301-03. The strength of standard deviation analysis was its ability to determine whether there has been a deviation from randomness. <u>Id.</u> at 302-03. For purposes of the Iowa Constitution, the Court settled on a standard of one standard deviation. Id. at 304.

To calculate the percentage of the minority group in the population, the Court directed trial judges to use the most current census data available but with adjustments. <u>Id.</u> The population should include only jury-eligible members, meaning those 18 years or older who are not state prisoners. Id. at 304-

305. Furthermore, a defendant is not limited to showing underrepresentation in his own pool, but may also rely on aggregated data to show statistical significance. <u>Id.</u> at 305. But if the proportion of a distinctive group in the defendant's jury pool is as large or larger than the proportion of the group in the jury-eligible population, his right to a fair cross-section would not be infringed "and there would be no reason to aggregate data in that event." <u>Id.</u>

With respect to systematic exclusion, the <u>Lilly</u> Court held that "statistically significant disparities alone are not enough. Rather, the challenger must tie the disparity to a particular practice." <u>Id.</u> at 307. For purposes of Article I Section 10, those practices could include "run-of-the-mill jury management practices" such as updating address lists, the granting of excuses, and the lack of enforcement of summons. <u>Id.</u>

In <u>State v. Veal</u> and <u>State v. Williams</u>, the Iowa Supreme Court clarified its view of the applicable analysis under the

Sixth Amendment. <u>State v. Veal</u>, 930 N.W.2d 319 (Iowa 2019); <u>State v. Williams</u>, 929 N.W.2d 621 (Iowa 2019).

In <u>Veal</u>, the Court adopted its approach under <u>Lilly</u> for addressing Sixth Amendment claims, but with two exceptions. <u>State v. Veal</u>, 930 N.W.2d 319, 328 (Iowa 2019). First, the Court believed the U.S. Supreme Court had adopted two to three standard deviations as the threshold standard for underrepresentation under the Fourteenth Amendment. <u>Id.</u> at 329 (citing <u>Castaneda v. Partida</u>, 430 U.S. 482, 496 n.17 (1977)). Therefore, the Court believed two standard deviations downward were necessary to establish a Sixth Amendment claim. <u>Id.</u> Second, the Court disregarded run-of-the-mill jury practices as a basis for finding systematic exclusion under the Sixth Amendment. <u>Id.</u>

The Court noted that 3.27 percent of Veal's jury pool were African-American and that this was less than both the percentage of African-Americans in Webster County (4.6 percent) and the percentage of African-Americans 18 and older

in Webster County (3.9 percent). <u>Id.</u> The aggregated data from 2016 also suggested the disparity was "statistically significant even under the higher <u>Castaneda</u> threshold." <u>Id.</u> The Court remanded Veal's case to allow for development of the record using the clarified standards. <u>Id.</u> at 330.

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