IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 21-0158

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

ANTOINE TYREE WILLIAMS  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR FLOYD COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE RUSTIN DAVENPORT, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**LOUIS S. SLOVEN**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
[Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov)

RACHEL GINBEY  
Floyd County Attorney

SCOTT BROWN  
Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. **The district court was correct that Williams did not establish a violation of his Sixth Amendment rights under *Duren* and *Veal*.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

Error was preserved for any challenges and arguments that Williams raised and that the district court rejected in its ruling. *See Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012). Williams did not initially ask the district court to rely on Zalenski’s meta-analysis for prong #2. *See* Def’s Proposed Ruling (8/27/20) at 2–3; App. 70–71 (arguing Z-score of -0.952 for his jury pool “establishes this prong”). However, in his response to the State’s proposed ruling, Williams did defend Zalenski’s meta-analysis against the State’s critiques. *See* Def’s Response (9/16/20); App. 77. The district court’s subsequent ruling considered and rejected that advocacy, and it explained why it declined to use Zalenski’s meta-analysis to assess the fairness/reasonableness of the level of African-American representation in Williams’s jury pool. *See* Ruling (1/29/21) at 10–15; App. 92–97. Thus, error is preserved for Williams’s claim that the court erred by declining to use meta-analysis to resolve prong #2. *See Lamasters*, 821 N.W.2d at 864. On prong #3, error is preserved for claims and arguments about the same theories of systematic exclusion that were considered and ruled upon below. *Id.*

## Standard of Review

Review of a ruling on a fair-cross-section challenge is de novo. See *Veal*, 930 N.W.2d at 327 (citing *State v. Plain*, 898 N.W.2d 801, 810, 821–29 (Iowa 2017)).

## Merits

Iowa courts use *Duren*'s three-pronged test for challenges that allege a violation of the Sixth Amendment fair-cross-section right. To construct a prima-facie claim, the defendant must establish:

(1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a “distinctive” group in the community; (2) that the representation of this group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to the number of such persons in the community; and (3) that this underrepresentation is due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-selection process.

*Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 299 (quoting *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 822, in turn quoting *Duren v. Missouri*, 439 U.S. 357, 364 (1979)). Failure to prove any one of those three prongs is fatal to a *Duren/Veal* challenge.

The district court found Williams failed to establish prong #2 and prong #3. See Ruling (1/29/21) at 4–34; App. 86. Both findings are correct, and each is an independently sufficient reason to affirm.

### **A. Williams failed to establish systematic exclusion.**

Even if Williams established underrepresentation on prong #2, his claim would still fail because he did not prove systematic exclusion.

**1. Williams’s theories about systematic negligence from neutral, run-of-the-mill jury management practices cannot establish systematic exclusion for a Sixth Amendment challenge.**

Williams challenges run-of-the-mill jury management practices like sending only one round of failure-to-respond letters or declining to refer every failure-to-appear to the court for contempt proceedings. *See* Def’s Br. at 59–61. But because he is limited to a challenge under the Sixth Amendment, *Veal* applies. Consequently, Williams’s claims that a pattern of underrepresentation arose from a failure to abandon “run-of-the-mill jury management practices” and adopt new practices cannot prove systematic exclusion, even if accepted at face value. *See Veal*, 930 N.W.2d at 329–30. *Veal* held that, for a Sixth Amendment fair cross-section claim, “[t]he defendant must identify some practice or combination of practices that led to the underrepresentation, and it must be something other than the ‘laundry list’ the Supreme Court declined to condemn in *Berghuis*.” *See id.* at 330 (quoting *Berghuis v. Smith*, 559 U.S. 314, 332 (2010)). That laundry list included:

[T]he County’s practice of excusing people who merely alleged hardship or simply failed to show up for jury service, its reliance on mail notices, its failure to follow up on nonresponses, its use of residential addresses at least 15 months old, and the refusal of Kent County police to enforce court orders for the appearance of prospective jurors.

*See id.* at 329 (quoting *Berghuis*, 559 U.S. at 332). Many of Williams’s allegations of systematic exclusion are identical to items on that list, including his argument that Floyd County’s jury management process caused underrepresentation by failing to follow up on non-responses or by failing to ensure that potential jurors would face consequences for failing to respond or failing to appear. *See* Def’s Br. at 59–63. Any such arguments are foreclosed by *Veal*, which rejected the claim that “run-of-the-mill jury management practices can constitute systematic exclusion under the Sixth Amendment.” *See Veal*, 930 N.W.2d at 329.

Williams concedes that the district court was correct to rule that any claim under the Iowa Constitution was not preserved before trial and was outside the scope of the remand order from his prior appeal. *See* Def’s Br. at 9–10. That is why Williams does not use the phrase “systematic negligence” anywhere in his brief. But the substance of his argument on prong #3 is still about systematic negligence—which becomes unmistakably clear when he block-quotes *Lilly*’s explanation of the underlying theory behind systematic-negligence claims. *See* Def’s Br. at 62–63 (quoting *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 307 (quoting Paula Hannaford-Agor, *Systematic Negligence in Jury Operations: Why the Definition of Systematic Exclusion in Fair Cross Section Claims*

*Must Be Expanded*, 59 DRAKE L. REV. 761, 790–91 (2011))). Williams is making the same argument that run-of-the-mill jury management practices could have been optimized to reduce underrepresentation, and that any local jury manager (or state court administrator) who was exercising reasonable care in October 2017 would have identified and implemented those specific optimizations before Williams’s trial. This is the same kind of systematic-negligence claim that *Veal* already foreclosed under the Sixth Amendment. The district court was correct to rule that it “cannot give rise to a Sixth Amendment challenge.” See Ruling (1/29/21) at 23; App. 106 (quoting *Veal*, 930 N.W.2d at 329).

Williams recognizes that *Veal*’s holding about challenges to run-of-the-mill jury management practices is fatal to his claim, so he argues that *Veal* relied on a misreading of *Berghuis* and *Duren*. See Def’s Br. at 53–56. But those arguments stretch *Duren* well past its breaking point, while failing to recognize the implications of *Berghuis*.

Williams says that *Duren* held that a prima facie claim requires nothing beyond proof of “a pattern of underrepresentation coupled with an identification of practices leading to underrepresentation.” See Def’s Br. at 55–56 (citing *Duren*, 439 U.S. at 366). Williams needs *Duren*’s holding to be about policies “leading to underrepresentation”



because his challenge is that “[t]he prior jury management practices of Floyd County led to . . . underrepresentation.” *See* Def’s Br. at 56. But *Duren* did not invalidate any neutrally applicable, run-of-the-mill jury management policies for “leading to underrepresentation” as a second-order consequence. Rather, *Duren* dealt with a rule that, by its express terms, applied only to women *because* they were women, and funneled them out the juror selection process (or, more accurately, expressly gave them permission to funnel themselves out). *See Duren*, 439 U.S. at 360–61. The observed pattern of underrepresentation was not a second-order consequence that arose from interaction between neutrally applicable, run-of-the-mill jury management practices and social, economic, or cultural conditions. *See id.* at 367 & n.25 (noting that existence of automatic opt-out exemption for women meant that “[t]he resulting disproportionate and consistent exclusion [of] women” at all stages after the initial canvass “was quite obviously” attributable to that gender-based exemption, and rejecting an argument that other neutral exemptions were the cause of underrepresentation of women when similar neutral exemptions had not produced similar disparities on a master jury wheel in the federal district court for the same area). *Duren* was about an automatic opt-out exemption from jury service

that Missouri *only* offered to women. *Duren* described a pattern of underrepresentation of women on Missouri jury pools, but it was not describing a second-order effect of an ordinary policy that required *every* potential juror to choose whether to fulfill their obligation to respond to a jury summons and appear for jury service. Rather, that disparity was a direct consequence of a policy that expressly granted women—and only women—an opportunity to opt out of jury service, with no penalty and no further inquiry. *See id.* at 370 (warning that categorical exemptions from jury service were likely unconstitutional if they were “expressly limited” to distinctive groups); *accord Machetti v. Linahan*, 679 F.2d 236, 242 (11th Cir. 1982) (citing *Duren*, 439 U.S. at 366–67) (considering similar automatic exemption for women and applying *Duren*’s holding: “that the existence of an opt-out system, as embodied by statute” expressly specifying that opt-out was available to all women and only to women, “in conjunction with the resulting disproportionate and consistent exclusion of women from the final jury pool was prima facie evidence of systematic exclusion of women”). *Duren* did not hold that litigants can prove a constitutional violation by identifying practices that are neutral or ordinary, but “that lead to underrepresentation” by some indirect effect. *See* Def’s Br. at 55–56.

If *Duren* had meant to enable proof of systematic exclusion by identifying neutral, run-of-the-mill jury management practices “that lead to underrepresentation” as a second-order consequence of their ordinary operation, then it would not have included reassurances that neutral exemptions for caregiving parents were likely constitutional:

We recognize that a State may have an important interest in assuring that those members of the family responsible for the care of children are available to do so. An exemption appropriately tailored to this interest would, we think, survive a fair-cross-section challenge. . . . We also repeat the observation made in *Taylor* that it is unlikely that reasonable exemptions, such as those based on special hardship, incapacity, or community needs, “would pose substantial threats that the remaining pool of jurors would not be representative of the community.”

*Duren*, 439 U.S. at 370 (quoting *Taylor v. Louisiana*, 419 U.S. 522, 534 (1975)). Williams’s reading would render that an empty promise. If women were more likely to be caregiving parents (or more likely to qualify for other neutral exemptions that were mentioned in *Taylor*), then they would qualify for those neutral exemptions more often, and that would naturally “lead to underrepresentation” over time. In 1979, when *Duren* was decided, a gender disparity in caregiving would have been an obvious fact of American life.<sup>3</sup> No reasonable jurist or lawyer

---

<sup>3</sup> Even as late as 1996, data from the Bureau of Labor Statistics showed that 75% of working-age Americans who were not working and

would have believed that an exemption for caregiving parents could be implemented without disproportionately excusing women from jury service, as a second-order consequence of that neutral policy. If *Duren* said what Williams wants it to say (that systematic exclusion can be proven by identifying second-order consequences of neutral, run-of-the-mill jury management policies and practices), then *Duren* could not have given any reassurances that commonplace exemptions for “members of the family responsible for the care of children” would “survive a fair-cross-section challenge”—to the contrary, it would have been clear that those caregiver exemptions *could not* survive. *See id.*

Much like the neutral, run-of-the-mill policies that Williams is challenging here, those caregiver exemptions would tend to produce underrepresentation of a distinctive group in practice, by interaction

---

not looking for work were women. 70% of those women said that was because they were “taking care of home or family” instead. Only 8% of men who were not working or looking for work gave that as a reason. *See* BUREAU OF LABOR STATISTICS, U.S. DEP’T OF LABOR, *Issues in Labor Statistics: Who’s Not Working?*, Summary 98-4, at 1 (May 1998), <https://www.bls.gov/opub/btn/archive/whos-not-working.pdf>; *cf.* Laura T. Kessler, *The Attachment Gap: Employment Discrimination Law, Women’s Cultural Caregiving, and the Limits of Economic and Liberal Legal Theory*, 34 U. MICH. J. L. REFORM 371, 378–88 (2001) (discussing data and research on gender disparities in caregiving, and also citing scholarship that “has highlighted the social, political, and spiritual importance of family caregiving work for women of color”).

with social and cultural realities that cannot be attributed to features of a juror selection process and that neither courts nor jury managers could eliminate by fiat. If *Duren* supported Williams’s challenge, then *Duren* would have expressed skepticism about the constitutionality of those neutral caregiver exemptions. Instead, it expressly disclaimed any interest in invalidating them. *See id.* This shows that Williams’s critique of *Veal*’s reading and application of *Duren* is invalid. *Veal* was right to recognize this limitation on claims under *Duren* and the Sixth Amendment. *See Veal*, 930 N.W.2d at 329 (quoting *Berghuis*, 559 U.S. at 333, and *Duren*, 439 U.S. at 370).

*Berghuis* held that the Michigan Supreme Court’s decision that rejected Smith’s fair-cross-section claim under the Sixth Amendment was “consistent with *Duren*.” *See Berghuis*, 559 U.S. at 333. In that underlying decision, the Michigan Supreme Court had held that “the influence of social and economic factors on juror participation does not demonstrate a systematic exclusion of African-Americans.” *See People v. Smith*, 615 N.W.2d 1, 3 (Mich. 2000); *accord id.* at 12–13 (Cavanagh, J., concurring) (rejecting systematic exclusion theories that alleged “disparate effects” as consequence of neutral practices, where any disparity would be “attributable to outside social forces

rather than systematic exclusion of black prospective jurors”). It is true, as Williams points out, that *Berghuis* included a footnote that stated that the Court was not deciding “whether the impact of social and economic factors can support a fair-cross-section claim.” *See Berghuis*, 559 U.S. at 333 n.9; *accord* Def’s Br. at 54 n.7. But it still held that the Michigan Supreme Court’s holding that rejected those challenges was “consistent with *Duren*” and that it did not violate any principle that *Duren* had established—either “clearly” or less so. *See Berghuis*, 559 U.S. at 327, 332–33. Most of the holding in *Berghuis* was about Smith’s failure to establish causation—but it also explained that neutral exemptions would likely be constitutional, even if Smith *had* proven that they were causally linked to underrepresentation:

In *Taylor*, we “recognized broad discretion in the States” to “prescribe relevant qualifications for their jurors and to provide reasonable exemptions.” 419 U.S. at 537–538. And in *Duren*, the Court understood that hardship exemptions resembling those Smith assails might well “survive a fair-cross-section challenge,” 439 U.S. at 370.

*Berghuis*, 559 U.S. at 333. As such, it was not unreasonable to reject Smith’s contention “that jury-selection-process features of the kind on [his] list can give rise to a fair-cross-section claim” under *Duren* and the Sixth Amendment. *See id.*; *cf. Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 318 (McDonald, J., concurring in part) (collecting cases that reached similar holdings).

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